THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2008-CP-02-01647

Appellate Case No. 2016-001373

RECEIVED

JAN 12 2017

SC Court of Appeals

In Re: The Estate of James Brown a/k/a James Joseph Brown

The Estate of James Brown; James Brown Irrevocable Trust Agreement, u/a/d August 1, 2000, by and through its fiduciaries Russell L. Bauknight, Personal Representative and Trustee, and David C. Sojourner, Jr., Limited Special Administrator and Limited Special Trustee, Respondents, and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT THE SETTLEMENT ORDER WAS APPROVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-105 AND THAT S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-1101 DID NOT APPLY.**
- A. The lower court abused its discretion when it failed to apply S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-1101 and §62-3-1102 properly.**
- B. The lower court abused its discretion when it determined that the fiduciaries had the authority, in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105, to enter into the agreements as all necessary parties were not a part of the settlement agreement.**
- C. The lower court abused its discretion when it failed to determine whether a good faith controversy existed and whether the settlement agreement was just and reasonable.**
- II. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND TRUSTEE HAD NOT BREACHED THEIR FIDUCIARY DUTY TO APPELLANT TERRY BROWN.**
- A. The Personal Representative and Trustee have a duty to enforce the in terrorem clause.**
- B. The lower court abused its discretion when it determined that the Trust did not have to enforce the in terrorem clause because no probable cause exception exists for irrevocable trusts.**
- C. The lower court abused its discretion when it determined that the Personal Representative and Trustee had not breached their fiduciary duty when it determined that that there was evidence to prove probable cause.**
- III. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING AN ATTORNEY REPRESENTING A PARTY TO TESTIFY AS A WITNESS.**
- A. The lower court abused its discretion when it allowed Louis Levenson (“Levenson”) to testify on behalf of his clients in violation of Rule 6, SCRCP.**

B. The testimony by Levenson was hearsay in violation of Rule 801, SCRE and 802, SCRE and no hearsay exception applies.

C. The testimony by Levenson was a violation of the rules of professional conduct and should not have been allowed.

D. The testimony by Levenson was a violation of Rule 43(h), SCRCP.

- IV. IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE LOWER COURT TO DETERMINE THAT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED TO AVOID THE APPLICATION OF THE IN TERROREM CLAUSE.**
- V. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT SIGNING A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS A VIOLATION OF THE IN TERROREM CLAUSES.**
- VI. THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED A PARTY WITH NO STANDING TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PROCEEDING WHEN IT WAS RULED THAT SUCH PARTY DID NOT HAVE STANDING.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the lower court on a joint motion filed by the Estate of James Brown (“Estate”) and James Brown Irrevocable Trust Agreement, u/a/d August 1, 2000 (“Trust”), by and through its fiduciaries, Russell L. Bauknight, Personal Representative and Trustee, and David C. Sojourner, Jr., Limited Special Administrator (“LSA”) and Limited Special Trustee, and Petitioners (collectively the “Challenging Children and Heirs”) Tonya Brown, a/k/a Sarah LaTonya Brown, Vanisha Brown, Larry Brown, Deanna J. Brown Thomas, Jason Brown Lewis, and Yamma N. Brown Lumar, individually and on behalf of her minor children, Sydney Lumar and Carrington Lumar (collectively the

“Moving Parties”).¹ The Moving Parties sought a ruling that they were authorized to enter into the settlement agreements attached as Exhibits A and B and thereafter have them entered on the record.² The settlement agreements specifically agreed that the Challenging Children and Heirs, who were part of the collective Moving Parties, would dismiss their claims against the Estate of James Brown which sought to dismantle the estate plan.³ Specifically, one of the claims dismissed was the Challenging Children and Heirs claim for undue influence.⁴ In exchange, the Challenging Children and Heirs received monetary consideration and both the Trust and Estate agreed that the in terrorem clauses in the respective documents would not be enforced against them.⁵ As a result, the Challenging Children and Heirs were paid for filing a challenge against an estate plan that had in terrorem clauses in both the will and trust and placed back in the same position with the only heirs of the estate who did not challenge the estate plan, Terry Brown and his children.⁶ Appellant Terry Brown filed a Response to the Joint Motion to Authorize Settlement dated December 23, 2015, which was subsequently amended on December 30, 2015. Appellant Daryl Brown filed an Opposition to Joint Motion to Authorize Settlement on December 29, 2015. The lower court held a hearing on January 14, 2016 on the Joint Motion and Oppositions. The lower court entered an order approving the settlement on March 7, 2016. Appellant Terry Brown filed a Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider on March 8, 2016. The court gave all parties until April 15, 2016 to respond to such motion. Only the LSA

¹Joint Motion to Authorize Settlement of Brown Children’s Undue Influence Cases and to Dismiss Cases with Prejudice, filed December 7, 2015. (R., Vol. II, p. 363)

²Id.

³Id. at Exhibits A and B. (R., Vol. II, p. 371 and p. 395)

⁴Id.

⁵Id.

⁶Id.

filed a response in opposition to Appellant Terry Brown's Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider. The lower court held a hearing on May 16, 2016. Only Appellant Terry Brown and the LSA presented arguments. The lower court order was entered on May 31, 2016 and served via e-mail on all parties. Appellant Terry Brown filed a timely Notice of Appeal on June 29, 2016 appealing the two separate orders of the lower court of March 7, 2016 and May 31, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

James Joseph Brown ("Mr. Brown") died Christmas day 2006. Mr. Brown left a Last Will and Testament dated August 1, 2000 ("Will") and Trust, which were very specific as to his intentions for the disbursement of his assets.⁷ The Will devised all of his personal and household effects to six adult named children: Deanna J. Brown Thomas, Yamma N. Brown, Vanisha Brown, Darryl J. Brown, Larry Brown and Terry Brown. Mr. Brown left the remainder of his estate to the Trust.⁸ Mr. Brown created the Trust under separate agreement, as part of his estate plan to provide financial assistance for the education of his grandchildren and disadvantaged youths.⁹

Upon Mr. Brown's death, the principal and income contained in the Trust, as augmented by Mr. Brown's General estate, was to be divided, by its terms, into two "shares" or subtrusts: (1) The Brown Family Educational Trust ("Family Trust"), which was capped in the amount of \$2 million for tax purposes and designated for the education of Mr. Brown's grandchildren; and (2) The James Brown "I Feel Good" Trust ("Charitable Trust"), which Mr. Brown declared "shall be used solely for the tuition, educational expenses, and

⁷See Will and Trust. (R., Vol. IV, p. 958 and p. 964)

⁸Id.

⁹Id.

financial assistance of . . . poor and financially needy children, youth, or young adults (Who are both qualified and deserving) who seek and have need of such assistance to obtain and further their education at the many educational entities and/or institutions available in the States of South Carolina and Georgia.”¹⁰

Mr. Brown’s Will and Trust each contained a no-contest clause, which provided that any beneficiary who challenged the Will or the 2000 Irrevocable Trust “**shall** forfeit his or her entire interest thereunder.”¹¹ Mr. Brown noted in both documents that the persons described therein, i.e. the six named children and their legitimate issue, comprised “the entire class . . . acknowledge[d] to be [his] heirs and issue.”¹² Mr. Brown expressly disavowed any other potential beneficiaries, stating, “I have intentionally failed to provide for any other relatives or other persons, whether claiming, or to claim, to be an heir of mine or not.”¹³ Mr. Brown stated any person not provided for in his Will or Trust “whether or not claiming to be a beneficiary, party in interest, or otherwise **shall** not have standing or be qualified to contest, claim an interest in or otherwise dispute the disposition of [his] estate as he herewith disclaims and disinherits any such person.”¹⁴ Mr. Brown stated that any challenges by such persons to the disposition of his estate or the validity of the documents would “be considered an affront to [his] wishes,” and “**shall be vigorously challenged as such by his fiduciaries.**”¹⁵

On December 21, 2007, five of the six adult children Mr. Brown named in his Will, along with their children, brought actions to set aside the Will and Trust so that Mr. Brown’s

¹⁰Id.
¹¹Id.
¹²Id.
¹³Id.
¹⁴Id.

estate would pass to them directly, intestate, based on, among other claims, undue influence.¹⁶ Other children, not named in Mr. Brown's will also brought actions so that Mr. Brown's estate would pass to them directly, intestate, based on undue influence.¹⁷

It is these Contesting Children and Heirs, that now jointly motion for settlement, who filed groundless undue influence challenges to the Will and Trust of the decedent.¹⁸ The Will and Trust contain in terrorem clauses that preclude the above named beneficiaries from receiving any assets of the estate or trust.¹⁹ As a result of the proposed settlement that the parties now seek to have approved, Terry Brown and his heirs would be injured by the Personal Representative and Trustee if this Court affirms the settlement order.²⁰

ARGUMENT

“On an appeal from the Court of Common Pleas, an appellate court review of a lower court approval of a compromise is based on an abuse of discretion standard. ‘Upon appeal, [t]he question [for an appellate court] is did the [ruling] court abuse its discretion in approving the compromise?’ An abuse of discretion occurs when a court's order is controlled by an error of law or there is no evidentiary support for the court's factual conclusions.” Wilson v. Dallas, 403 S.C. 411, 425, 2013 S.C. LEXIS 240, *19-20 (S.C. 2013) (citations omitted). Additionally, “[o]n appeal from a final order of the probate court, the circuit court must apply the same standard of review that an appellate court would apply on appeal. In re Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 361, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993). The

¹⁵Id.

¹⁶January 14, 2016 Hearing Transcript, p. 37:16. (R., Vol. II, p. 274, line 16)

¹⁷See Joint Motion to Authorize Settlement dated December 4, 2015. (R., Vol. II, p. 363)

¹⁸Id.

¹⁹See Will and Trust. (R., Vol. IV, p. 958 and 964)

²⁰See Joint Motion to Authorize Settlement, Exhibits A (Section III) and B (Section III) (R., Vol. II, p. 376 and p. 400)

standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court depends upon whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity. In re Estate of Hyman, 362 S.C. 20, 25, 606 S.E.2d 205, 207 (Ct. App. 2004) (citation omitted); In re Thames, 344 S.C. 564, 568, 544 S.E.2d 854, 856 (Ct. App. 2001) (citation omitted).

On appeal from an action at law, the circuit court and the appellate court may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses that no evidence supports them. Neely v. Thomasson, 365 S.C. 345, 349-50, 618 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2005). Questions of law may be decided by this court without deference to the lower court. Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000). The standard of review for an action at law is the same whether the facts are found by a jury or the judge sitting without a jury. See Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co., 263 S.C. 565, 567-68, 211 S.E.2d 876, 877 (1975) (stating in an action at law, the judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings for purposes of appellate review). On the other hand, if the probate proceeding is equitable in nature, then the circuit court—on appeal—may make factual findings according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Howard, 315 S.C. at 361-62, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257-58 (citation omitted).” Sullivan v. Brown (In re Estate of Kay), 2016 S.C. App. LEXIS 63, *9-10 (S.C. Ct. App. June 15, 2016).

I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT THE SETTLEMENT ORDER WAS APPROVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-105 AND THAT S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-1101 DID NOT APPLY.

A. The lower court abused its discretion when it failed to apply S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-1101 and §62-3-1102 properly.

The lower court abused its discretion and misapplied the law when it determined that the Joint Motion was not filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1101 and S.C. Code Ann.

§ 62-3-1102 as the Court was not being asked to “approve” the Settlement Agreement and that they would bind only the Moving Parties.²¹ Instead, the lower court erroneously ruled that the “private” settlement agreements were being filed before the court in accordance with Rule 43(k), SCRCP and that the fiduciaries were simply seeking a ruling in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105 to assist them in administering the estate.²² The only problem with this argument is that S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912 requires that private settlements must be executed by all heirs. This did not occur in this matter. Therefore, lower court abused its discretion and misapplied the law when it allowed the entry of the settlement agreements.

As a result of the lower court’s ruling, a hybrid court approval process would be created which end runs S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1101, and 1102. As further error in its attempt to explain why S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1101 did not apply, the court attempted to distinguish the 2009 Compromise Agreement that the South Carolina Supreme Court overturned in this matter in Wilson v. Dallas, 403 S.C. 411, 2013 S.C. LEXIS 240 (2013) from the one currently being filed by the Moving Parties.²³ Specifically, the lower court determined that the Settlement Agreement did not in “any way alter, modify, or amend the terms or distribution scheme of Decedent’s Will or Trust.”²⁴ These determinations were an abuse of discretion and factually incorrect. The settlement agreements allowed the Challenging Children and Heirs to avoid the application of the in terrorem clause which enables them to be either beneficiaries of the personal property or education trust. This directly altered the distribution scheme in that the Challenging

²¹Final Order dated February 24, 2016, p. 6 and footnote 4. (R., Vol. I, p. 147 and 144)

²²Id. at 2. (R., Vol. I, p. 143)

²³Id. at 6-7. (R., Vol. I, p. 147-148)

Children and Heirs would be allowed to receive an interest in the Estate after challenging the plan. The Will and Trust specifically exclude such an application.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court determined in Wilson v. Dallas:

‘A compromise agreement is void unless executed in compliance with the governing statute.’ In re Estate of Riley, 228 Ariz. 382, 266 P.3d 1078, 1080 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011). Section 62-3-1102 of the South Carolina Code establishes the following procedure for securing court approval of a compromise agreement resolving an estate controversy:

(1) The terms of the compromise shall be set forth in an agreement in writing which *shall be executed by all competent persons* and parents acting for any minor child *having beneficial interests or having claims which will or may be affected by the compromise. . . .*

(2) *Any interested person*, including the personal representative or a trustee, then may submit the agreement to the court for its approval *and for execution by the personal representative, the trustee of every affected testamentary trust, and other fiduciaries and representatives.*

(3) *After notice to all interested persons or their representatives*, including the personal representative of the estate and all affected trustees of trusts, *the court*, if it finds that the contest or controversy is *in good faith* and that the effect of the agreement upon the interests of persons represented by fiduciaries or other representatives is *just and reasonable*, *shall make an order approving the agreement and directing all fiduciaries subject to its jurisdiction to execute the agreement.*

The Moving Parties attempted to end run the proper procedure for a settlement in this matter thereby creating an indirect procedure that allows “court approval” of a settlement agreement without having all of the necessary parties. The Moving Parties were aware that they did not have Appellant Terry Brown’s consent to any of these settlements, as he was not contacted and did not sign them. Further, Appellant contends that they did not seek it because they knew he would not consent because it put the Challenging Children and Heirs back in the same position with him relative to the disposition of the personal property of the Estate. As a result, the Moving Parties attempt to create a veiled procedure whereby

²⁴ Id. at 7. (R., Vol. I, p. 148)

fiduciaries may seek “court approval” without calling it that and enforce estate settlement agreements on heirs who do not consent. Such a process would eviscerate S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1101, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1102 and S. C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912 making them unnecessary. This is not the correct statutory interpretation or the legislative intent. If it were, any time a beneficiary did not agree with a settlement reached by a fiduciary, the fiduciary need simply follow the Moving Parties mock “court approval” procedure and affect a disagreeable beneficiary’s rights as they have done in this matter. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1102(1) requires all parties to agree to the terms of the compromise when court approval is sought. That was clearly not the case here as Terry Brown and Darryl Brown were not involved in the settlement agreements. In a probate matter whether the settlement be a private settlement or court approved settlement all of the heirs must be involved based on the statutes. This did not occur either. Based on the foregoing, the lower court should be reversed and the settlement agreements overturned.

B. The lower court abused its discretion when it determined that the fiduciaries had the authority, in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105, to enter into the agreements as all necessary parties were not a part of the settlement agreement.

Terry Brown and Darryl Brown were not parties to the settlement agreement as it was not a family settlement.²⁵ As a result, all parties did not consent to the “private” settlement agreement that affected the non-consenting parties rights in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912. Specifically, Terry Brown’s rights relative to the personal property of the estate were changed by failing to enforce the in terrorem clauses against the Challenging Children and Heirs. All parties whose rights were to be affected by the in terrorem clause did not sign the settlement agreements. Therefore, there was no valid contract that could be formed

as to the in terrorem clause waiver as there was no meeting of the minds of all necessary parties to the in terrorem issue. "South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement." Patricia Grand Hotel, L.L.C. v. MacGuire Enters., Inc., 372 S.C. 634, 638, 643 S.E.2d 692, 694 (Ct. App. 2007). As such, it was an abuse of discretion for the lower court to determine that the fiduciaries had the authority to enter into a settlement agreement in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105 as the underlying settlement agreements were not enforceable and void under contract law.

C. The lower court abused its discretion when it failed to determine whether a good faith controversy existed and whether the settlement agreement was just and reasonable.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1102(3) states:

Upon application to the court and after notice to all interested persons or their representatives, including the personal representative of the estate and all affected trustees of trusts, the court, if it finds that the contest or controversy is in good faith and that the effect of the agreement upon the interests of persons represented by fiduciaries or other representatives is just and reasonable, shall make an order approving the agreement and directing all fiduciaries subject to its jurisdiction to execute the agreement. Minor children represented only by their parents may be bound only if their parents join with other competent persons in execution of the compromise. Upon the making of the order and the execution of the agreement, all further disposition of the estate is in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1102.

The lower court abused its discretion when it determined that S. C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1101 and the procedures under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1102 did not apply because the settlement agreements would only be binding on the Moving Parties when in fact the settlement agreements directly impacted the inheritance rights of Appellant Terry Brown by affirming

²⁵January 14, 2016 Hearing Transcript, 29:21-22. (R., Vol. II, p. 266, l. 21-22)

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