THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001373

RECEIVED
JAN 09 2017
SC Court of Appeals

In re: The Estate of James Brown a/k/a James Joseph Brown

The Estate of James Brown; James Brown Irrevocable Trust Agreement, u/a/d August 1, 2000, by and through its fiduciaries Russell L. Bauknight, Personal Representative and Trustee, and David C. Sojourner, Jr., Limited Special Administrator and Limited Special Trustee, Respondents, and

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ESTATE AND TRUST’S FIDUCIARIES HAVE FULL AUTHORITY TO SETTLE LITIGATION AND BIND THE ESTATE AND TRUST THROUGH THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS.

The Appointment Orders filed October 1 and 10, 2013 appointed Mr. Bauknight as Personal Representative of the Estate and Trustee of the Trust and granted unto Mr. Bauknight “full, absolute, and exclusive authority to carry out the Estate’s administration and the Trust’s administration, and all business and matters related thereto” (R. p. 23 at ¶ 1; R. p. 141 ¶ 2.) The Appointment Orders granted Mr. Bauknight “the authority and power to act on behalf of, and bind, the Estate and Trust for all purposes, except as limited by the appointment of the Limited Special Trustee and Limited Special Administrator” (*Id.*)

The Appointment Orders similarly appointed Mr. Sojourner as Limited Special Administrator of the Estate and as Limited Special Trustee of the Trust Agreement and specifically authorized Mr. Sojourner to “defend[] the Trust and the Estate against the claims made in the Will and Trust Challenges until final resolution thereof.” (R. p. 23 at ¶ 2; pp. 140-141.) “This interim appointment [was] made with the requirement that Mr.

Sojourner, in his⁴ limited capacity, shall remain independent from Mr. Bauknight [and] shall act with sole and absolute authority in his limited capacity” (R. p. 23.)

The Appointment Orders do not expressly list the power to settle claims as one of the powers given to the Estate or Trust. However, such power is inherent and is supported by South Carolina law. Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-715(8) (Supp. 2014), authorizes a personal representative to “settle claims” against the estate.⁴ The South Carolina Trust Code contains a similar provision in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-816(14) (Supp. 2014) (granting trustees with the power to “pay or contest any claim, settle a claim by or against the trust, and release, in whole or in part, a claim belonging to the trust”).

Consistent with this statutory authority, Decedent’s Irrevocable Trust Agreement authorizes the trustee, in its fiduciary discretion, to “compromise, adjust, mediate, arbitrate, sue on or defend, abandon, or otherwise deal with and settle claims in favor of or against the Trust Estate as the Trustee shall deem best.” (R. p. 975 at Article X(19).)

The Estate and Trust, through its fiduciaries thus had inherent and direct legal authority to enter into the Settlement Agreements which fully resolved Petitioner’s challenges against Decedent’s Will and Trust. As seen through the Settlement Agreements, the terms did not vary the distribution scheme of either the Will or Trust, but rather, fully, finally, and completely resolved pending litigation between the parties and resulted in a dismissal with prejudice of Petitioners from the Estate Proceeding. (R. pp. 371-410.) The lower court’s orders which found the Fiduciaries to be so authorized

⁴ See also S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-42(A) (“Only a duly appointed personal representative, as defined in Section 62-1-201(30), shall have the authority to settle wrongful death or survival actions.”).

was supported by factual and legal conclusions, did not result in prejudice to the rights of any party, and did not amount to an error of law.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING STATUTORY LAW TO AUTHORIZE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS.

The Moving Parties sought confirmation under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105 (Supp. 2014). This statutory provision enables “[p]ersons interested in decedents’ estates,” including personal representatives and trustees, to request rulings which assist in the administration of estates and trusts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105 (Supp. 2014); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201(20). Under this section, the Fiduciaries appropriately sought the lower court’s ruling they were authorized and empowered to enter into the Settlement Agreements with Petitioners. The Orders Authorizing the Settlement were, therefore, supported by reasonable facts and a correct application of the law, and do not constitute an abuse of discretion.

Contrary to Appellant’s suggestion, the Moving Parties were not seeking to have the lower court approve a “private settlement agreement” under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912 (Supp. 2014). That statutory provision only applies when “successors . . . agree among themselves to alter the interests, shares, or amounts to which they are entitled under the will of the decedent.” *Id.* As outlined in the Settlement Agreements the Moving Parties merely settled pending litigation and did not “alter the interests, shares, or amounts” to which Petitioners “are entitled under the will of the decedent.” *Id.* Petitioners (and Appellant) remain entitled to their original inheritance under Decedent’s Will, including a portion of Decedent’s personal and household effects. (R. p. 958 at Item I.) All other assets of the Estate, as intended by Decedent, poured into a separate

trust to provide financial assistance for the education of Decedent's grandchildren and disadvantaged youths. (R. p. 958. at Item II.)

Case law interpreting Section 62-3-912 supports the LSA's position. In *Osterneck v. Osterneck*, 374 S.C. 573, 649 S.E.2d 127 (Ct. App. 2007), this Court considered the validity of "a family agreement" under Section 62-3-912. The agreement at issue "exchange[d] Father's estate's half interest in the marital home for Mother's interest in a certificate of deposit." *Id.* at 578-79, 649 S.E.2d at 130. In *Parker v. Shecut*, 340 S.C. 460, 481, 531 S.E.2d 546, 558 (Ct. App. 2000), *rev'd on other grounds*, 349 S.C. 226, 562 S.E.2d 620 (2002), this Court recognized that Section 62-3-912 applied to a settlement agreement entered by the parties which "alter[ed] that which they are entitled to from [the] estate."

In sharp contrast to the present Settlement Agreement, the 2008 Compromise Agreement materially changed, and effectively rewrote, Decedent's estate plan and therefore strayed from Decedent's testamentary intentions. First, the 2008 Compromise Agreement purported to settle *all* will and trust challenges, including those filed by alleged heirs of Decedent not acknowledged in the Will or Trust. The Settlement Agreements only resolve actions filed by children and grandchildren of Decedent directly acknowledged in his Will. (R. p. 958 at Item I.) Further, the 2008 Compromise Agreement purported to establish Tommie Rae Hynie Brown as Decedent's "surviving spouse," contradicting Decedent's estate documents which did not identify Ms. Brown as a surviving heir and expressly disclaimed all persons not named in the Will. (R. p. 958.⁵)

⁵ "Except as otherwise provided in this Will and corresponding instruments, I have intentionally failed to provide for any other relatives or other persons, whether claiming, or to claim, to be an heir of mine or not. Such failure is intentional and not occasioned by accident or mistake."

In addition, the 2008 Compromise Agreement called for the creation of a wholly new trust designed to “receive, hold, manage and be authorized to sell the James Brown Assets.”

As recognized by the Supreme Court in *Wilson v. Dallas*:

Although the stated justification for the compromise was to avoid the potential of a substantial threat to the charitable beneficiaries occasioned by Respondents’ claims, the compromise condoned by the AG here results in an outright gift of half of the estate to the family members and purported family members who challenged Brown’s will and trust based on tenuous claims. ... Based on all the circumstances, we do not believe the effect of the compromise is just and reasonable, and we cannot condone its approval.

Id. at p. 447, 743 S.E.2d at 766.

Respondent’s position that Section 62-3-912 only applies where the parties seek to alter the distributional interests of the estate plan is further supported by public policy. Because an agreement which alters, amends, or modifies the Decedent’s intended distribution terms, it would be fair and equitable to require all beneficiaries of the estate to consent. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912 (Supp. 2014) (requiring the agreement to be “executed by all who are affected by its provisions”). However, when a settlement agreement only settles pending litigation, there is no effect on the distributional interests under the estate plan and the decedent’s testamentary intent remains unchanged.

South Carolina law does not require parties to obtain the consent or approval of all litigants to settle claims. Such a requirement would dramatically impede the settlement of claims in pending litigation, contradicting sound public policy recognized by our courts. *See Darden v. Witham*, 258 S.C. 380, 188 S.E.2d 776 (1972) (“[C]ourts favor settlements and agreements amongst litigants, and regard as commendable efforts by the parties to settle their differences without the courts’ intervention or

assistance....”); *Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran*, 365 S.C. at 281, 617 S.E.2d at 141 (“[F]amily settlements are favored by the courts.”) (quoting *Dibble v. Dibble*, 248 S.C. 165, 171, 149 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1966)); *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. at 445, 743 S.E.2d at 765 (“The law generally favors an agreement of compromise among family members to avoid a will contest or promote the settlement and distribution of an estate.”) (citing *Duncan v. Alewine*, 273 S.C. 275, 255 S.E.2d 841 (1979); *Dibble, supra*; *In re Estate of Yeley*, 959 N.E.2d 888, 894 (Ind. Ct. App. 2011) (“[T]he settlement agreement is a contractual agreement to transfer and distribute property among the parties so as to avoid litigation.”)).

The Settlement Agreements do not alter, modify, or amend the terms or distribution scheme of Decedent’s Will or Trust. (*Compare* Proposed Settlement Agreements, R. p. 371-410 *and* Last Will and Testament, R. pp. 958-963.) The Settlement Agreements do not purport to resolve Will and Trust Challenges pursued by non-settling parties and do not alter the Decedent’s testamentary intent. *Contra, Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. at 451, 743 S.E.2d at 768 (“The compromise orchestrated by the [Attorney General] in this case destroys the estate plan Brown had established in favor of an arrangement overseen virtually exclusively by the [Attorney General].”). Rather, the Settlement Agreements resolve pending challenges to set aside Decedent’s estate plan through the Estate and Trust’s payment of “nuisance value” settlements. (R. p. 249, lines 4-23 (“[A] settlement of \$37,500 per claim for these five claims is very reasonable. And one might view it as simply very easily justified by the costs that are going to be saved for it, let alone the fact that it eliminates risk to the Estate that they may prevail and that the estate might end up being set aside.”))

Further, the Settlement Agreements leave wholly intact Decedent's testamentary plan to devise all of his tangible personal property to certain named heirs, including Petitioners, Appellant, and Daryl Brown. In Item I of Decedent's Last Will and Testament, he specifically gave and bequeathed "all . . . personal and household effects of every kind . . . to my children surviving⁶ me in approximately equal shares." (R. p. 958 at Item I.) The Settlement Agreements do not disturb Decedent's express intention of pouring over *all remaining Estate assets* into a trust designed to help educate his grandchildren and qualified poor and financially needy children in Georgia and South Carolina. (R. p. 958 at Item II; at R. pp. 964-984.) The Settlement Agreements do not prevent Appellant, Daryl Brown, or any of the Decedent's other named children and their legitimate heirs (Petitioners), from receiving their one-sixth interest of Decedent's tangible personal property, as distributed through Decedent's Will.

Appellant's argument that the distribution scheme in Decedent's Will and Trust was "alter[ed], modif[ied], or amend[ed]," because the settlements enabled Petitioners "to receive an interest in the Estate after challenging the plan," and "avoid the application of the in terrorem clause" (R. p. 962 at Item X) (Appellant's Brief at pp. 9, 11), is not supported by any legal citation or logic. As a preliminary matter, Appellant's argument falsely assumes the in terrorem clauses in Decedent's Will and Trust would be enforceable against Petitioners. An action to enforce an in terrorem clause is only appropriate *after* a court has first determined the underlying challenges to the validity of the will or trust lack merit. *Doolittle v. Exchange Bank*, 241 Cal. App.4th 529, 543 (Cal.

⁶ Decedent's "surviving children" are defined as "Deanna J. Brown Thomas; Yamma N. Brown; Vanisha Brown; Daryl J. Brown; Larry Brown; and Terry Brown," including "their legitimate issue who shall also be lineage issue of mine," including Tonya Brown a/k/a Sarah Latonya Brown, Jason Brown Lewis, Sydney Lumar, and Carrington Lumar. (R. p. 958.)

App. 2015) (“[A]n in terrorem clause] need not and cannot be enforced until it known whether the contest has merit.”).

Courts in South Carolina, along with a majority of other jurisdictions, have recognized a “good faith challenge” exception to the general rule that *in terrorem* or “no-contest” clauses are valid and enforceable. Under South Carolina law, a no contest clause is unenforceable if the challenger has probable cause for challenging the testamentary instrument. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-905 (Supp. 2014); *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 370 S.C. 5, 633 S.E.2d 722 (2006); *see also Ryan v. Wachovia Bank & Trust Co.*, 70 S.E.2d 853, 856 (N.C. 1952) (holding no contest clause unenforceable against a person who in good faith and with probable cause challenges the validity of a will). Whether probable cause exists is a question of fact for the jury. *Law v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 368 S.C. 424, 629 S.E.2d 642 (2006); *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 756 S.E.2d 129 (2014); *see also Hamel v. Hamel*, 299 P.3d 278 (Kan. 2013).

Appellant’s argument that the “good faith challenge exception” to enforcement of no contest clauses is not available for challenges to irrevocable trust agreements, (Appellant’s Brief at p. 21), attempts to draw a line where none logically exists. Under existing case law, an in terrorem clause in either a will or trust agreement, regardless of whether revocable or irrevocable, is unenforceable where there is probable cause to challenge the instrument. *See Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 370 S.C. 5, 633 S.E.2d 722 (2006); *Haynes v. First Nat. State Bank of New Jersey*, 432 A.2d 890 (N.J. 1981); *Hamel*, 299 P.3d at 290; *In re Estate of Stan*, 839 N.W.2d 498, 502 (Mich. Ct. App. 2013); 23 A.L.R.4th 369 (“Validity and enforceability of provision of will or trust

instrument for forfeiture or reduction of share of contesting beneficiary”) (emphasis added).

The public policy supporting enforcement of no contest clauses—and the good faith exception to their enforcement—applies equally to wills and trusts, whether revocable or irrevocable. “As with a will, the primary consideration in construing a trust is to discern the settlor’s intent.” *Epworth Children’s Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 616 S.E.2d 710 (2005) (citing *Bowles v. Bradley*, 319 S.C. 377, 380, 461 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1995)). The purpose of a no contest clause is to dissuade beneficiaries from challenging gifts made in the instrument. If a suit is brought to thwart the decedent’s intention, a forfeiture clause should be effectuated to uphold the intention of the decedent. *See Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 370 S.C. at 12, 633 S.E.2d at 725-26 (stating such clauses are “designed to penalize beneficiaries for contesting a will or instituting other proceedings relating to the estate”). However, where the challenger seeks to set aside the estate plan on the basis that the decedent was unduly influenced, lacked capacity, or otherwise did not intend the effects of the testamentary instrument, the testator’s “intent” is the core issue of the challenge. A good-faith challenger actually seeks to further the legitimate intentions or expectations of the decedent, rather than thwart such desires.

Appellant asserts no probable cause exception to the enforcement of an in terrorem clause exists in South Carolina for irrevocable trusts. (Appellant’s Brief at p. 21.) Appellant cites S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-605 (Supp. 2014) for this proposition. (*See id.*) That code provision states:

A provision in a revocable trust purporting to penalize any interested person for contesting the validity of the trust or instituting other proceedings relating to the trust is unenforceable if probable cause exists for instituting proceedings.

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